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It’s me; my Lord!


INAM R SEHRI





• Born in Lyallpur (Pakistan) in April 1948


• First Degree from Government College Lyallpur (1969)


• Studied at Government College Lahore & got first Master’s Degree from Punjab University Lahore (1971);


• Attachment with AJK Education Service (1973-1976)


• Central Superior Services (CSS) Exam passed (batch 1975)


• Civil Service Academy Lahore (joined 1976)


• National Police Academy Islamabad (joined 1977)


• LLB from BUZ University Multan (1981)


• Master’s Degree from Exeter University of UK (1990)


• Regular Police Service: District Admin, Police College, National Police Academy, the Intelligence Bureau (IB), Federal Investigation Agency (FIA) [1977-1998] then migrated to the UK permanently.


A part-script copied from the Vol-I:


Just spent a normal routine life; with hundreds of mentionable memoirs allegedly of bravery & glamour as every uniformed officer keeps, some times to smile at and next moment to repent upon but taking it just normal except one or two spills. During my tenure at IB HQ Islamabad I got chance to peep into the elite civil and military leadership of Pakistan then existing in governmental dossiers and database.


During my stay at FIA I was assigned to conduct special enquiries & investigations into some acutely sensitive matters like Motorway Scandal, sudden expansion and build-up of Sharif family’s industrial empire, Nawaz Sharif’s accounts in foreign countries; Alleged Financial Corruptions in Pakistan’s Embassies in Far-Eastern Countries; Shahnawaz Bhutto’s murder in Cannes (France); Land Scandals of CDA’s Estate Directorate; Ittefaq Foundry’s ‘custom duty on scrap’ scam, Hudaibya Engineering & Hudaibya Paper Mills enquiries, Bhindara’s Murree Brewery and tens more cases like that.


[Through these words I want to keep it on record that during the course of the above mentioned, (and also which cannot be mentioned due to space limits) investigations or enquiries, the then Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto, or Gen Naseerullah Babar the then Federal Interior Minister, or G Asghar Malik the then DG FIA, had never never issued direct instructions or implicit directions or wished me to distort facts or to go malafide for orchestrating a political edge or other intangible gains. Hats off to all of them!]


I should feel proud that veracity and truthfulness of none of my enquiry or investigation could be challenged or proved false in NAB or Special Courts; yes, most of them were used to avail political compromises by Gen Musharraf’s government.


That’s enough, my dear countrymen.




My Apologies Again:


This volume-II points towards more facts of unlawful compromises and concessions unmasking the actual faces of Pakistani rulers.


Some people are living in that part of the world called Pakistan:


• Where the ruling political party {the PPP} does not opt to complete investigation concerning Ms Benazir Bhutto who was murdered three (3) years earlier but takes pride in reopening of the case of Mr Bhutto who was (judicially) murdered thirty (30) years ago. [See the Reference no: 1 of 2011 of the SC]


• Where a sitting prime minister {Mr Gilani} appeared in person before the SC [in January 2012] in contempt of court charges and shown respect for the apex court but his Parliament never explored the possibility of re-considering those laws under which certain military officers could be taken through due process in courts who were guilty of keeping the Chief Justice and seven judges of the SC in ‘illegal confinement’ [in Nov 2007] for days & weeks.


• Where 103 journalists were killed in 2011; 44 in 2010 and 110 were slaughtered in 2009, making it the 4th dangerous country in the world to work for the media. Not even a single case worked out yet. [Referred to Vienna-based press watchdog IPI’s press briefing dated 5th January 2012]


• Where the ISI & MI admitted before the SC that four out of eleven prisoners they had taken out from Adiala Jail for interrogation had died in their custody; five were in hospital. Then what; in Pakistan even SC cannot take action against any army officer in any context. [Referred to SC proceedings dated 30th January 2012]


• Where a Federal Minister raises demand in a press conference that ‘all groups: Sindhi, Pakhtun, Baloch, Seraiki and Punjabi, should get an equal share in corruption.’ [Referring to Abdul Qayyum Jatoi’s press conference in Quetta on 26th September 2010]


• Where more than one third of cabinet ministers pay no taxes whatsoever and that Prime Minister Gillani had not paid tax for any of the three years covered by the disclosure. [Referring to GEO TV dated 27th September 2010]


It had continuously been debated through the whole decade that whether the ‘War on Terror’ propelled into the South Asian region after 9/11 was of America or Pakistan’s own. Long ago, the question had lost its utility. When the fire engines are busy in showering fountains over the burning fields, no body ponders that which non-smoker was having lighter in his pocket. This question is always left for insurers to dig out but till then everything goes in ashes. In Pakistan, nothing is insured; neither the people, nor their future, nor their dreams, nor the governance patterns and not even the governments in succession.


Referring to the daily ‘Jang’ of 27th May 2009 [Dr Shahid’s opinion]:


‘The last decade of battles & wars spread over the territories of Iraq, Lebanon, Palestine and Afghanistan had made it clear that to start a war you may not need permission from any but to win the same you definitely need assistance of all.’


True, the peace palaces cannot be built on foundations and drenches which are filled with skulls and bones; not at all. It also questions a common perception that ‘is the majority always right; not at all’.


We are all intellectually dishonest [purposefully word ‘corrupt’ is avoided], probably the whole crowd of 187 million. Only one person is needed, one more Qaid e Azam, one Ahmedi Nejad like of Iran, one Mohatir Mohammad like of Malaysia.


Lt Gen K M Arif once himself narrated Pakistan’s ‘glorious past’: the Chief Justice of Pakistan Anwarul Haq was attending a state dinner when Sharifuddin Pirzada [then military government’s lawyer to contest the validity of Martial Law of July 1977] conveyed him a message of Gen Ziaul Haq. The CJP left the dinner in between, reached home and made changes under his own hand in the typed manuscript of the judgment to be announced next day; the CJP had allowed Gen Ziaul Haq to make changes in the Pakistan’s Constitution of 1973 (PLD 1977 SC 639).


By virtue of that judgment, the General made major amendments in the 1973 Constitution interalia to oust the jurisdiction of the superior courts to review the orders passed by the Martial Law authorities and to remove ‘honourable justices’ who were not acceptable to the ‘establishment’. The judiciary had cut its own hands with the CJP’s ‘sharp edged’ judgment.


Similar nice treat was given to the next military monarch in year 2000 by another CJP Irshad Hasan Khan who had not only once more validated the military coup but also allowed Gen Musharraf to avail another three years in his office as ruler & dictator; a relief which was not even prayed from the court.


In ARY’s live TV program of 30th January 2012, Hassan Nisar had rightly pointed out that Pakistan is being governed by mafias since its birth [forget mafias of Italy and Sicily which only deal in drugs]. It started from PM Liaqat Ali Khan’s announcement that ‘if you are not in possession of your degree, never mind; give an affidavit, the government would believe you.’ Result was that the librarians of undivided India got Vice Chancellor’s slots in universities of newly born Pakistan.


Consider it further; then ‘Claim Mafia’ surfaced; the tenants and sharecroppers claimed lands in thousands of acres; the labourers claimed factories & mills. Then ‘Syed Mafia’ cropped up; once there were more Syeds & Shah jees in Pakistan than the whole population of Saudi Arabia from where they originated.


During Gen Ayub Khan’s rule, an ‘industrialist mafia’ was purposefully sponsored and backed by the government which had only 22 families as members virtually controlling 85% of the whole Pakistan’s wealth. Zulfikar Ali Bhutto developed his own ‘jiala mafia’; creating Iftikhar Taris and Manzoor Mohals like parliamentarians who used to enter the DC’s offices by banging their doors with their foot-kicks. Gen Ziaul Haq gave birth to ‘Kalashnikov & drug mafia’ which had joined hands with Mujahideens to betray the police and courts but contrarily introduced ‘Akhtar Brother’s Dynasty of industrialists’ to the nation.


The next decade was of ‘politician mafias’ of Sharifs and Zardaris under the banners of PML and PPP which befooled their innocent public turn by turn by building up their foreign accounts in Dubai, London and Geneva and expanding their industrial and real estate empires un-proportionately. Under their auspices, small mafias continued to prosper but remained subservient to their political bosses at all times.


In metropolises, especially in Islamabad, Lahore and Karachi, land & Qabza (occupation by force) mafias, bhatta (cash money extortions) mafias, chanda (donations) mafias; sugar and textile quota mafias (nexus between high stake hoarding politicians) and Bank Loan Eaters are operating since three decades. In all these fields the ruling regimes issue SROs, circulars and notifications to favour their party members to provide them extra financial gains and legal protections. Above all there exists a ‘target killer mafia’ to serve all the above groups to provide ‘an adequate answer’ if someone questions their authority.


The last decade was of ‘Chaudhrys & [some] Generals’ in which era the mafias of two newly elite allegedly brewed maximum advantage from Gen Musharraf’s lust to remain in power. Elahis and Hussains were comparatively new in the field and in-experienced so were un-necessarily dragged in mud by the ‘links & ties’ of Sharifs & some judges in the name of ‘independent judiciary’; ultimately forced to join the PPP to save their skins.


Since about three decades, the parliamentarians, both at provincial and federal level, are mostly related with mafias mentioned in above paragraphs, generously termed as ‘elite classes’. One needs quarter a million Pounds to buy major party’s ticket for provincial assembly; about half a million Pounds to have major party’s ticket for National Assembly and a million pounds are needed for a Senate seat; but all feel pleasure to ‘invest’ [in the name of ‘party fund’] for their bright future.


After general elections, when Z A Bhutto’s dubious National Assembly met in Islamabad on 28th March 1977, only the PPP members had shown up. He offered to enter into a dialogue with the opposition thinking that it would settle for increased representation in the Assembly’s session but miserably failed. Afterwards Mr Bhutto declared a national emergency and used ‘Defence of Pakistan Rules’ under which all the opposition leaders were arrested. He called for his political opponents to negotiate a solution but they did not trust Bhutto and the demonstrations continued throughout April till June [1977].


Tired of the strikes and agitations, once Mr Bhutto called an emergency meeting, where Gen Ziaul Haq and Gen F A Chishti were also present amongst other key persons, and said: ‘Gentlemen, I’ve decided to resign; brother Ziaul Haq would take over.’


In the meeting, Gen Chishti had the courage to say: ‘Sir, I’m personally your humble servant but cannot guarantee the behaviour of jawans who believe that the elections were vastly rigged.’


But Gen Ziaul Haq stood up with his right hand on the left part of his chest, little bowed down and said that ‘Sir, Army is with you; you are Fakhr e Asia, have been the Chairman Islamic Summit Conference; you will not resign whatsoever.’


The irony of fate: Mr Bhutto was confident that with the allegiance of the Army under Gen Ziaul Haq he would be able to control the situation, but he could not. The result was that, after the military coup of 5th July 1977, Mr Bhutto was first sent to jails and then to gallows. Pakistan’s stalwart PM of today, Syed Yousaf Raza Gilani, was the right hand man of Gen Ziaul Haq then.


Referring to pages 245-246 of Qayyum Nizami’s book [Jo Dekha; Jo Suna]: a veteran columnist, late Irshad Haqqani was once called by Malik Meraj Khalid, Prime Minister in the interim government of 1996 and told him while on the breakfast table that the then CJP Sajjad Ali Shah had met him [the interim PM] and told: ‘most of the judges on the SC bench hearing Benazir Bhutto’s petition were holding opinion of re-instating her government back in line with Justice Nasim Hassan Shah’s judgment in Nawaz Sharif’s case of 1993.’


President Farooq Leghari had also got air of that development. Mr Leghari had also known about one Kh Tariq Rahim who had tried to convince the judges that the army wanted BB’s re-instatement. Due to Leghari’s timely handling, the ‘agencies’ had conveniently managed to convey to the judges of the bench that ‘the army is not interested in the come back of Ms Bhutto.’ Democracy was upheld again.


One can imagine the bravery of our superior judiciary that even in the ‘top democratic era’ of 1990s, the judges were always found ready to play at the tunes of their army counterparts and the agencies were playing the ‘ruling games’ at their whims and wishes.


Since the last coup in 1999 the military has lost a lot of power and influence inside Pakistan. The Internet, and more media outlets in Pakistan, has made it impossible for a government to control the news. Evil acts of some short sighted officers in the ISI or the military now get publicized immediately resulting in much reduced popular support for military coups. More and more journalism is coming from unidentified amateurs. The warrior groups and the military both resorted to raise their death squads hunting down journalists who were seen as ‘unhelpful’.


A total 103 journalists were killed in 2011, with Mexico as the most dangerous and Pakistan as fourth dangerous place to work for the media; Vienna-based press watchdog IPI told on 5th January 2012. This was the second highest toll on record after 2009, when 110 journalists were killed. Cases of Wali Khan Babar and Saleem Shahzad went hot in media; although no cogent results but intelligence agencies went naked in public. Alarming to note was that 55 journalists were killed in 2001.


Coming back:


Again submitted; these are mostly my published articles and live TV discussions, so chapters may not be inter-related. Each chapter is a different scenario.


‘Judges & Generals in Pakistan’ is a collection of essays, may be irritating for some; explaining diverse scenarios. This book evaluates some varying news, editorials, opinions and criticisms on historical issues.


No misleading intelligence story, no distracting investigative report, no concocted interview and no feed from the ‘concerned ones’ yet everything seems innovative; no fiction in this book but simple narration of facts.


‘It is the collection of tragedies and misgivings which are deliberately buried in suspicious darkness since decades. I’ve simply dig them out, collated and placed together for those who want to keep a track of their past.’


I want to end this chapter of apologies with a special note of thanks for Umezahra for all material assistance concerning language and references.


(Inam R Sehri)


March 2012: Manchester UK




Scenario 32


HISTORY OF JUDICIAL PAKISTAN:


Draconian ‘Doctrine of Necessity’


Earlier history of Pakistan’s Judiciary, as owned by the Supreme Court of Pakistan itself through one of its judgments made in 2002, gives an interesting account of intrigues amongst the then state institutions.


From 1947 till 1954 the Constituent Assembly, which was also the legislature of the country, failed to give a Constitution to the nation. Nothing was done beyond the passing of the Objectives Resolution by it. Failure to give a Constitution to the nation coupled with in-palace intrigues and the musical chair game for power and with a view to having absolute powers Governor General Ghulam Muhammad dissolved the Constituent Assembly. This act of the Governor General was challenged by Moulvi Tamizuddin Khan, President of the Assembly, in the Chief Court of Sindh.


The Sindh Chief Court allowed the petition and declared the dissolution of the Assembly as illegal. The judgment of the Sindh Chief Court was challenged in the Federal Court and by virtue of the judgment reported as Federation of Pakistan v. Moulvi Tamizudding Khan (PLD 1955 FC 240), the Federal Court reversed the judgment of the Sindh Chief Court and held that assent of the Governor General was necessary to all the laws and the amendments made in the Government of India Act 1935, which was the interim Constitution. According to the Court, section 223-A conferring power on the High Courts to issue writs had not received assent of the Governor General and the Chief Court could not have issued writ holding the act of the Governor General as invalid.


Therefore, by means of the Emergency Powers Ordinance 1955 (Ordinance No: IX of 1955) issued under section 42 of the Government of India Act 1935 the Governor General sought to validate such Acts by indicating his assent with retrospective operation. The Federal Court in Usif Patel’s case (PLD 1955 FC 387), however, declared that the Acts mentioned in the Schedule to the aforesaid Ordinance could not be validated under Section 42 of the Government of India Act 1935, nor could retrospective effect be given to them.


A noteworthy fact was that the Constituent Assembly had ceased to function, having been already dissolved by the Governor General by a Proclamation on 24th October 1954 and no Legislature competent to validate these Acts was in existence.


The Governor General made a Reference to the Federal Court under section 213 of the Government of India Act 1935 asking for the Court’s opinion on the question whether there was any provision in the Constitution or any rule of law applicable to the situation by which the Governor General could, by order or otherwise, declare that all orders made, decisions taken, and other acts done under those laws, should be valid and enforceable and those laws, which could not without danger to the State be removed from the existing legal system, should be treated as part of the law of the land until the question of their validation was determined by the new Constituent Convention.


The answer returned by majority judges of the Federal Court to the Reference by The Governor General (PLD 1955 FC 435) was that ‘in the situation presented by the Reference, the Governor General has, during the interim period, the power under the common law of civil or state necessity of retrospectively validating the laws listed in the Schedule to the Emergency Powers Ordinance 1955’. The Constituent Assembly, reconstituted as per the guidelines given by the Federal Court, with great efforts and pains, framed the 1956 Constitution wherein Pakistan was declared an Islamic Republic.


Unfortunately, the political stability could not be achieved and frequent changes of the government, apathy on the part of the legislators to the problems of the country, killing of the Deputy Speaker of the East Pakistan Assembly, beating up of the Speaker and desecration of national flag in Dacca led to the abrogation of the 1956 Constitution and imposition of first Martial Law in the country in October 1958.


The central and provincial governments were dismissed, the national and provincial assemblies were dissolved, the political parties were abolished and Gen Muhammad Ayub Khan, the Commander-in-Chief of the Army, took reigns of the country as the Chief Martial Law Administrator, who later became the Field Marshal. It was declared that a Constitution more suitable to the genius of the Muslim people would be devised.


On 10th October 1958, President Iskandar Mirza promulgated the Laws (Continuance in Force) Order 1958 wherein it was, interalia, provided that notwithstanding the abrogation of the Constitution, Pakistan shall be governed, as nearly as may be, in accordance with the 1956 Constitution, all Courts in existence immediately before the Proclamation shall continue in being, the law declared by the Supreme Court shall be binding on all Courts in Pakistan, the Supreme Court and the High Courts shall have power to issue the writs of habeas corpus, mandamus, prohibition, quo warranto and certiorari, etc.


Under Clause (7) of Article 2 of the Laws (Continuance in Force) Order 1958, all writ petitions pending in the High Courts seeking enforcement of Fundamental Rights stood abated. Interpretation of the said clause [no: (7) of Article 2] was debated in the Supreme Court and in the famous case reported as State v. Dosso (PLD 1958 SC 533) the Supreme Court held that if the Constitution was destroyed by a successful revolution, the validity of the prevalent laws depended upon the will of the new law-creating organ. Therefore, if the new legal order preserved any one or more laws of the old legal order, then a writ would lie for violation.


As regards pending applications for writs or writs already issued but which were either subjudice before the Supreme Court or required enforcement, the Court in the light of the Laws (Continuance in Force) Order 1958 held that no writ or order for a writ issued or made after the Proclamation shall have any legal effect unless the writ was issued on the ground that any one or more of the laws mentioned in Article 4 or any other right kept alive by the new order had been contravened.


To sum up, the Supreme Court, on the basis of the theory propounded by Hans Kelsen, accorded legitimacy to the assumption of power by Gen Muhammad Ayub Khan holding that coup d’etat was a legitimate means to bring about change in the government and particularly so when the new order brought about by the change was accepted by the people.


In 1959 the Basic Democracies Order was promulgated and 40,000 basic democrats from each province, i.e. the West Pakistan and the East Pakistan were elected, who formed the Electoral College for election to the office of the President. Gen M Ayub Khan sought referendum and more than 94-95 percent of the basic democrats voted in his favour and thus he assumed the office of the President of Pakistan. The basic democrats were then entrusted with the task of electing national and provincial assemblies ultimately leading to the framing and promulgation of the 1962 Constitution.


War between India and Pakistan in 1965, the Tashkent Declaration of 1966, dissatisfaction over the tremendous Presidential powers as against the helplessness of the National Assembly and screams and shouts for restoration of the Parliamentary system in which the Government was controlled by the Legislature and answerable to it, gave rise to agitations by the political leaders in both wings of the country. As a result, Field Marshal Ayub Khan had to descend from power. However, instead of transferring power to the Speaker of the National Assembly in accordance with the 1962 Constitution, he called upon Gen Agha Yahya Khan to take control of the affairs of the country that abrogated the said constitution and another phase of military rule commenced in Pakistan.


Gen Yahya Khan dissolved the National and the Provincial Assemblies, imposed Martial law and promulgated Legal Framework Order 1970. In addition thereto one unit in the West Pakistan was dissolved, the old four provinces were restored and general election to the Constituent Assembly / National Assembly under the Legal Framework Order was announced and held in 1970.


Unfortunately, the members returned to the Assemblies could not see eye to eye with each other and no compromise formula could be arrived at. The Awami League led by Sh Mujeebur Rehman was the majority party in the East Pakistan while the Pakistan Peoples Party (PPP), led by Mr Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto, was the majority party in two provinces namely Punjab and Sindh. The session of the Assembly, which had to take place immediately after elections, was postponed, dragged up to March 1971 to be held at Dacca which never assumed.


The Awami League of the East Pakistan led by Sh Mujeebur Rehman had returned with a thumping majority on the basis of 6-point political programme announced by it. The postponement of the Assembly session infuriated the Awami League and the public in East Pakistan and thus a revolt took place there. To cut the long story short, ultimately the separation movement in the East Pakistan succeeded and that province became Bangladesh; a separate independent country. In the remaining Pakistan, Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto of PPP, the leader of the majority party in two provinces, became the President of Pakistan and the CMLA on the eve of transfer of power to him by Gen Yahya Khan.


1973’s CONSTITUTION HELD IN ABEYANCE:


The Interim constitution of 1972 was promulgated and then by consensus of all, the 1973 Constitution was framed which came into force on 14th August 1973. Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto became the Prime Minister under the said Constitution. However, the country could not be brought on path of development and in 1977 elections were announced which was allegedly rigged leading to countrywide agitation against the PPP; the Pakistan Army intervened and Martial law was imposed by Gen Ziaul Haq on 5th July 1977.


The Constitution was not abrogated but was put in abeyance and the National as well as the Provincial Assemblies were dissolved. After the general elections of 1985, which was held on non-party basis, Gen Ziaul Haq nominated Muhammad Khan Junejo as the Prime Minister of Pakistan. A row between the two erupted and continued to prosper. However, ultimately the National and Provincial Assemblies were dissolved on 29th May 1988 by Gen Ziaul Haq.


Gen Ziaul Haq had publicly announced that the next elections would also be held on non-party basis. Before Gen Ziaul Haq could do so, he died in an air crash on 17th August 1988 at Bahawalpur and Ghulam Ishaq Khan, Chairman of the Senate became the President of Pakistan who announced that elections would be held in November 1988.


In the meantime, Benazir Bhutto filed a petition in the Supreme Court praying that the soul of parliamentary democracy, which was the hallmark of the 1973 Constitution, required that the election be held on party basis. The apex Court allowed the said petition through the judgment reported as Benazir Bhutto’s case (PLD 1988 SC 416) and it was directed that the elections would be held on party basis.


The elections were held on party basis and Benazir Bhutto formed the government at the centre and two Provinces [Sindh and NWFP] while Pakistan Muslim League (PML) which was the rival political party, formed government in the Punjab with Nawaz Sharif as the Chief Minister. Simultaneously, an unfortunate period of confrontation between the two rival parties and their leaders started. The two leaders were at daggers drawn with each other, the history witnessed.


Hardly any tolerance was shown and instead of solving the problems of the country and the people they were trying to malign and humiliate each other. Attempts for vote of no confidence in the centre against Benazir Bhutto were made in ending 1989. The members of the National Assembly of both the factions were taken to different places by the leaders, kept them hidden under duress and a new era of ‘lotacracy’ started in the history of Pakistan. The stories of corruption, mal-administration, nepotism, favouritism, etc were rampant both in the Punjab and at Federation level.


PARLIAMENT DISSOLVED IN 1990:


In this background, on 6th August 1990 Ghulam Ishaq Khan under Article 58(2)(b) of the Constitution dissolved the National and the Provincial Assemblies on the following grounds:


‘The President having considered the situation in the country, the events that have taken place and the circumstances, and among others for the reasons mentioned below is of the opinion that the Government of the Federation cannot be carried on in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and an appeal to the electorate is necessary:-


(a)  The utility and efficacy of the National Assembly as a representative institution elected by the people under the Constitution, and its mandate, is defeated by internal dissensions and frictions persistent and scandalous ‘horse-trading’ for political gain and furtherance of personal interests, corrupt practices and inducement, in contravention of the Constitution and the law, and by failure to discharge substantive legislative functions other than the adoption of the Finance Bill, and further the National Assembly have lost the confidence of the people.


(b)  The Constitution envisages the Federation and the Provinces working within the spheres respectively assigned to them with clearly delineated executive and legislative authority, and with a view to safeguarding the structure of the Federation also contains special provisions of mandatory nature to ensure and protect the authority granted to provinces, by creating the specific constitutional institutions consisting of Federal and Provincial representatives, but the Government of the Federation has wilfully undermined and impaired the working of the constitutional arrangements and usurped the authority of the Provinces and of such institutions, resulting in discord, confrontation and deadlock, adversely affecting the integrity, solidarity and well-being of Pakistan, in that, interalia:


(i)    The Council of Common Interests under Article 153, which is responsible only to Parliament, has not been allowed to discharge its Constitutional functions and exercise its powers despite persistent demands of the Provinces, and Parliament has also not been allowed to function in this regard as required by Articles 153 and 154, and in relation to Articles 155 and 161.


(ii)   The National Finance Commission under Article 160 has never been called to meet and allowed to function, thus blocking mandatory constitutional process in the matter of allocation of shares of revenues to the Provinces despite their persistent demands.


(iii)  Constitutional powers and functions of the Provinces have been deliberately frustrated and extension of executive authority of the Federation to the Provinces in violation of Art 97 and by manner of implementation of the Peoples’ Program.


(iv)  The Senate, which is representative of the Federating Units under Article 59 and is an integral part of Parliament, has been ridiculed and its Constitutional role eroded.’


Next general elections were held in November 1990 and at that point of time, an alliance of certain political parties known as Islami Jamhuri Ittehad (IJI) was formed which won the majority seats and Pakistan Muslim League (PML) formed the government headed by Nawaz Sharif and the PPP went in opposition. Personal hostility between the leaders of the two factions continued as before.


PARLIAMENT DISSOLVED AGAIN IN 1993:


On account of this acute confrontation, absence of attempt on the part of the leaders to arrive at a consensus and to solve the problems of the country, failure to improve the quality of human life and the deteriorating economy of the country again led President GIK to dissolve the National Assembly in April 1993. In the dissolution order, the President gave the following grounds:


‘The President having considered the situation in the country, the events that have taken place and the circumstances, the contents and consequences of the Prime Minster’s speech on 17th April 1993 and among others for the reasons mentioned below is of the opinion that the Government of the Federation cannot be carried on in accordance with the provisions of the constitution and an appeal to the electorate is necessary: -


(a)  The mass resignation of the members of the Opposition and of considerable number from the Treasury Benches, including several Ministers, interalia, showing their desire to seek fresh mandate from the people have resulted in the Government of the Federation and the National Assembly losing confidence of the people; that the dissent therein, has nullified its mandate.


(b)  The Prime Minster held meetings with the President in March and April and the last on 14th April 1993 when the President urged him to take positive steps to resolve the grave internal and international problems confronting the country and the nation was anxiously looking forward to the announcement of concrete measures by the Government to improve the situation.


Instead, the Prime Minster in his speech on 17th April 1993 chose to divert the people’s attention by making false and malicious allegations against the President of Pakistan who is Head of State and represents the unity of the Republic.


The tenor of the speech was that the Government could not be carried on in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and he advanced his own reasons and theory for the same which reasons and theory, in fact, are unwarranted and misleading. The Prime Minister tried to cover up the failures and defaults of the Government although he was repeatedly apprised of the real reasons in this behalf, which he even accepted and agreed to rectify by specific measures on urgent basis.


Further, the Prime Minster’s speech is tantamount to a call for agitation and in any case the speech and his conduct amounts to subversions of the Constitution.


(c)  Under the Constitution the Federation and the Provinces are required to exercise their executive and legislative authority as demarcated and defined and there are specific provisions and institutions to ensure its working in the interests of the integrity, sovereignty, solidarity and well-being of the Federation and to protect the autonomy granted to the Provinces by creating specific Constitutional institutions consisting of Federal and Provincial representatives, but the Government of the Federation has failed to uphold and protect these, as required, interalia:


(i)    The Council of Common Interests under Articles 153 which is responsible only to Parliament has not discharged its Constitutional functions to exercise its powers as required by Articles 153 and 154, and in relation to Articles 161, and particularly in the context of privatization of industries in relation to item 3 of Part II of the Federal Legislative List and item 34 of the Concurrent Legislative List.


(ii)  The National Economic Council under Article 156, and its Executive Committee, has been largely bypassed in the formulation of plans in respect of financial, commercial, social and economic policies.


(iii)  Constitutional powers, rights and functions of the Provinces have been usurped, frustrated and interfered with in violation of Article 97.


(d)  Mal-administration, corruption and nepotism have reached such proportions in the Federal Government, its various bodies, authorities and other corporations including banks supervised and controlled by the Federal Government, the lack of transparency in the process of privatization and in the disposal of public properties, that they violate the requirements of the Oath(s) of the Public representative together with the Prime Minister, the Federal Ministers and Ministers of State prescribed in the Constitution and prevent the Government from functioning in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution.


(e)  The functionaries, authorities and agencies of the Government under the direction, control, collaboration and patronage of the Prime Minster and Ministers have unleashed a reign of terror against the opponents of the Government including political and personal rivals & relatives, and media-men, thus creating a situation wherein the Government cannot be carried on in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and the law.


(f)   In violation of the provisions of the Constitution:


(i)    The Cabinet has not been taken into confidence or decided upon numerous Ordinances and matters of policy.


(ii)   Federal Ministers have, for a period, been called upon not to see the President.


(iii)  Resources and agencies of the Government of the Federation, including statutory corporations, authorities and banks, have been misused for political ends and purposes and for personal gain.


(iv)  There has been massive wastage and dissipation of public funds and assets at the cost of the national exchequer without legal or valid justification resulting in increased deficit financing and indebtedness, both domestic and international, and adversely affecting the national interest including defence.


(v)   Articles 240 and 242 have been disregarded in respect of the Civil Services of Pakistan.


(g)  The serious allegations made by Begum Nuzhat Asif Nawaz as to the high-handed treatment meted out to her husband, the late Army Chief of Staff, and the further allegations as to the circumstances culminating in his death indicate that the highest functionaries of the Federal Government have been subverting the authority of the Armed Forces and the machinery of the Government and the Constitution itself.


(h)  The Government of the Federation for the above reasons, interalia, is not in a position to meet properly and positively the threat to the security and integrity of Pakistan and the grave economic situation confronting the country, necessitating the requirement of a fresh mandate from the people of Pakistan.’


Although the Supreme Court in the judgment reported as Mian Nawaz Sharif’s case (PLD 1993 SC 473) restored the Assembly but the system did not work and the Prime Minister had to advise dissolution of the Assemblies.


BENAZIR BHUTTO SENT HOME AGAIN 1996:


Thereafter the government of Benazir Bhutto formed as a result of the 1993 election; but was dismissed by the then President Farooq Ahmed Leghari in November 1996 on the following grounds: -


• “And whereas on 20th September 1996 Mir Murtaza Bhutto, the brother of the Prime Minister, was killed at Karachi along with seven of his companions including the brother-in-law of a former Prime Minister, ostensibly in an encounter with the Karachi Police.


The Prime Minister and her Government claim that Mir Mutaza Bhutto has been murdered as a part of conspiracy. Within days of Mir Murtaza Bhutto’s death the Prime Minister appeared on television insinuating that the Presidency and other agencies of State were involved in this conspiracy.


These malicious insinuations, which were repeated on different occasions, were made without any factual basis whatsoever. Although the Prime Minister subsequently denied that the Presidency or the Armed Forces were involved, the institution of the Presidency, which represents the unity of the republic, was undermined and damage caused to the reputation of the agencies entrusted with the sacred duty of defending Pakistan.


In the events that have followed, the widow of Mir Murtaza Bhutto and the friends and supporters of the deceased have accused Ministers of the Government, including the spouse of the Prime Minister [Mr Asif Ali Zardari], the Chief Minister of Sindh, the Director of the Intelligence Bureau and other high officials of involvement in the conspiracy which, the Prime Minister herself alleged led to Murtaza Bhutto’s murder.


A situation has thus arisen in which justice, which is a fundamental requirement of our Islamic Society, cannot be ensured because powerful members of the Federal and Provincial Government who are themselves accused of the crime, influence and control the law-enforcing agencies entrusted with the duty of investigating the offences and brining to book the conspirators.


• And whereas, on 20th March 1996, the Supreme Court of Pakistan delivered its judgment in popularly known as the ‘Appointment of Judges Case’; the Prime Minister ridiculed this judgment in a speech before the National Assembly, which was shown more than once on nationwide television. The implementation of the judgment was resisted and deliberately delayed in violation of the Constitutional mandate that all executive and judicial authorities throughout Pakistan shall act in aid of the Supreme Court.


The directions of the Supreme Court with regard to regularization and removal of Judges of the High Courts were finally implemented on 30th September 1996 with a deliberate delay of six months and ten days and only after the President informed the Prime Minister that if advice was not submitted in accordance with the judgment by end (of) September 1996 then the President would himself proceed further in this matter to fulfil the Constitutional requirements.


The Government has, in this manner, not only violated Article 190 of the Constitution but also sought to undermine the independence of the judiciary guaranteed by Article 2A of the Constitution read with the Objectives Resolution. And whereas the sustained assault on the judicial organ of State has continued under the garb of a Bill moved in Parliament for prevention of corrupt practices. This Bill was approved by the Cabinet and introduced in the National Assembly without informing the President as required under Article 46(c) of the Constitution.


The said Bill proposes that on a motion moved by fifteen per cent of the total membership of the National Assembly, that is any thirty two members, a Judge of the Supreme Court or High Court can be sent on forced leave. Thereafter, if on reference made by the proposed special committee, the Special Prosecutor appointed by such Committee, forms the opinion that the Judge is prima facie guilty of criminal misconduct, the special committee is to refer this opinion to the National Assembly which can, by passing a vote of no confidence, remove the Judge from office.


The decision of the Cabinet is evidently an attempt to destroy the independence of the judiciary guaranteed by Article 2A of the Constitution and the Objectives Resolution.


Further, as the Government does not have a two-third majority in Parliament and as the Opposition Parties have openly and vehemently opposed the Bill approved by the Cabinet, the Government’s persistence with the Bill is designed not only to embarrass and humiliate the superior judiciary but also to frustrate and set a naught all efforts made, including the initiative taken by the President, to combat corruption and to commence the accountability process.


• And whereas the judiciary has till not been fully separated from the executive in violation of the provisions of Article 175(3) of the Constitution and the dead-line for such separation fixed by the Supreme Court of Pakistan.


• And whereas the Prime Minister and her Government have deliberately violated, on a massive scale, the fundamental right of privacy guaranteed by Article 14 of the Constitution. This has been done through illegal phone-tapping and eaves-dropping techniques. The phones which have been tapped and the conversations that have been monitored in this unconstitutional manner include the phones and conversations of Judges of the Superior Courts, leaders of political parties and high-ranking military and civil officers.


• And whereas corruption, nepotism and violation of rules in the administration of the affairs of the Government and its various bodies, authorities and corporations has become so extensive and widespread that the orderly functioning of Government in accordance of the provisions of the Constitution and the law has become impossible and in some cases, national security has been endangered. Public faith in the integrity and honesty of the Government has disappeared.


Members of the Government and the ruling parties are either directly or indirectly involved in such corruption, nepotism and rule violations.


Innumerable appointments have been made at the instance of members of the National Assembly in violation of the law declared by the Supreme Court that allocation of quotas to MsNA and MsPA for recruitment to various posts was offensive to the Constitution and the law and that all appointments were to be made on merit, honestly and objectively and in the public interest.


The transfers and postings of Government servants have similarly been made, in equally large numbers, at the behest of members of National Assembly and other members of the ruling parties.


The members have violated their oaths of office and the Government has not for three years taken any effective steps to ensure that the legislators do not interfere in the orderly executive functioning of the Government.


• And whereas the Constitutional requirement that the Cabinet together with the Ministers of State shall be collectively responsible to the National Assembly has been violated by the induction of a Minister against whom criminal cases are pending which the Interior Minister has refused to withdraw.


In fact, at an earlier stage, the Interior Minister had announced his intention to resign if the former was inducted into the Cabinet. A Cabinet in which one Minister is responsible for the prosecution of a cabinet colleague cannot be collectively responsible in any matter whatsoever.


• And whereas in the matter of the sale of Burmah Castrol Shares in PPL and BONE / PPL shares in Qadirpur Gas Field involving national asset valued in several billions of rupees, the President required the Prime Minister to place the matter before the Cabinet for consideration & re-consideration of the decisions taken in this matter by the ECC. This has still not been done, despite lapse of over four months, in violation of the provisions of Article 46 and 48 of the Constitution.


• And whereas for the foregoing reasons, taken individually and collectively, I am satisfied that a situation has arisen in which the Government of the Federation cannot be carried on in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and an appeal to the electorate is necessary.”


It may be stated here that on both occasions when the governments of Ms Benazir Bhutto were dismissed, the dissolutions were challenged and the Supreme Court in the judgments reported as PLD 1992 SC 646 and PLD 1998 SC 388 upheld the dissolution orders and the grounds on which the Assemblies were dissolved.


In the 1997 general elections, PML again returned to power with a thumping majority in the Assemblies and by means of the 13th Amendment, Article 58(2)(b) of the Constitution was omitted and the President Leghari’s power to dissolve the National Assembly was taken away. In the meanwhile, a tug of war started between PM Nawaz Sharif and the CJP Sajjad Ali Shah. The Prime Minister introduced the 14th Amendment to the Constitution as a result of which the persons elected on the ticket of a particular party were debarred from speaking against the policies of the party concerned at the floor of the house or outside.


A petition was moved challenging the 14th Amendment on the ground that it infringed the fundamental right of freedom of speech and the then Chief Justice of Pakistan suspended the operation of the 14th Amendment which was resented by the party in power. The justification advanced by the party in power [PML] to introduce 14th Amendment was that they were trying to bring an end to the floor crossing.


The suspension of the operation of the 14th Amendment made the Prime Minister and others to ridicule the Chief Justice and certain derogatory remarks were made against the Supreme Court, which led to initiation of Contempt of Court proceedings against the Prime Minister and others.


Although the Prime Minister appeared in Court but as expected the apex Court desired to proceed further in the matter which again infuriated the PML and thus through a concerted effort the Supreme Court was attacked by an unruly mob to deter the Court from hearing the contempt case as a result of which the Chief Justice of Pakistan and other Judges had to leave the Courtroom. Crocodile tears were shed by the party in power over the incident. The mob which attacked this Court included one MNA and two MsPA with other PML formation commanders.


[It was another tragic part of Pakistan’s history that the said MNA & the 2 MsPA and leading political figures all were made free despite verbal, written and electronic media-evidence on record by the Supreme Court but numerous police officers were punished taking them as escape goats.]


Later, the Chief of Army Staff Gen Jehangir Karamat delivered a speech in the Pakistan Naval War College and while commenting upon the prevalent circumstances in the country he suggested that a National Security Council should be formed to advise the Prime Minister so that appropriate measures be taken to reform the administration in running the affairs of the country. This speech was disapproved by the Prime Minister and consequently Gen Jehangir Karamat was sent home.


NAWAZ SHARIF SENT HOME AGAIN 1999:


Such like circumstances ultimately precipitated the military coup by Gen Musharraf and his colleague Generals on 12th October 1999, reinforced by Proclamation of Emergency of 14th October 1999, which was validated by the Supreme Court in Syed Zafar Ali Shah’s case on the basis of doctrine of state necessity in year 2000.


It is pertinent to mention that the personal hostility between the two leaders [Benazir Bhutto & Nawaz Sharif] and the confrontation between them never ceased. Both of them on coming to power tried to involve each other in criminal cases. The government of Nawaz Sharif filed references against Benazir Bhutto, her husband and others and similar course of action was followed by Benazir Bhutto when she was in power. On a reference about the receipt of kickbacks in SGS case Benazir Bhutto was convicted in 1998 but on appeal the conviction was set aside and the case was remanded for fresh trial in 2001.


When Gen Musharraf took over the reins of power, there was a sigh of relief because the people were fed up with the confrontation and lack of understanding between the two leaders and their followers. The apex Court’s decision in the above referred Syed Zafar Ali Shah’s case, three years’ period was also given to the Gen Musharraf to achieve his declared objectives; reproduced hereunder: -


• Rebuild national confidence and morale;


• Strengthen federation, remove inter-provincial disharmony and restore national cohesion;


• Revive the economy and restore investor confidence;


• Ensure law and order and dispense speedy justice;


• Depoliticize state institutions;


• Devolution of power to the grass roots level; and


• Ensure swift and across the board accountability.


The Supreme Court had held that:


‘Changes in the social, political and economic fields are not brought about at once with a magic wand but involve a journey of thousands miles, which requires a start with the first step. In our view, the Election Order deserves approval being the first step aimed at bringing about a change in the political culture, which has been described in the International Encyclopedia of the Social Sciences by David L. Sills, Volume 12, page 218 as under:


• [Political culture is the set of attitudes, beliefs, and sentiments which give order and meaning to a political process and which provide the underlying assumptions and rules that govern behaviour in the political system. It encompasses both the political ideals and the operating norms of a polity. Political culture is thus the manifestation in aggregate form of the psychological and subjective dimensions of politics. A political culture is the product of both the collective history of a political system and the life histories of the members of that system, and thus it is rooted equally in public events and private experiences.]’


Once it was argued before the Supreme Court that ‘the imposition of educational qualification would not bring about any change because the kith and kin of the old politicians would reach the Assemblies.’ But the Court held that for the making of new laws in the light of the changing circumstances and social and political values the public representatives should be well versed with the modern trends, changing social order and the events on the international scene.


No doubt wisdom is not related with degrees but this is an exception to the rule. Education certainly broadens the vision, adds to knowledge, brings about maturity and enlightenment, promotes tolerance and peaceful coexistence and eliminates parochialism. The apex court was convinced that the educational qualification prescribed for membership of Assemblies would raise their level of competence; bring change in the political culture and would also be an incentive to education.


Hence petitions praying for relief against education qualifications were dismissed but subsequently, the political nexus amongst various clans got this barrier removed through the parliamentary benches.




Scenario 33


DECLINE IN JUDICIAL VALUES:


At the outset one can say that major causes of decline in judicial respect have been the personal rifts and aversions among the judges coupled with tendencies of staying in judiciary for long times. External factors were never been as responsible as widely pre-empted.


If one can afford to sit in any High Court Bar for instance, he would find tens of remarks emanating from all the corners describing alleged stories about corrupt judges. They themselves feel embarrassed some times when a nexus between a particular judge and a specific law chamber is openly discussed, may not be true, but at least speaks about minds of the bar members. Those bar members are mostly the perspective candidates for being a judge of the same high court in near future.


Political affiliations of bar members are always open and make their way to the possible slots in higher judiciary when their parties come in power but seldom they discuss about the positive virtues their colleagues possess being the bar members; the stories, however, travel along.


Due to political affiliations referred above, the petitions and cases carrying political issues decided in the superior courts have always been considered controversial because the opponent bar members normally do not accept the judgments whole heartedly. A case about a judge’s alleged corruption can be referred to the Supreme Judicial Council but till today only four cases could be sent there; one against J Fazal Ghani of Peshawar High Court; one against J Shaukat Ali of Lahore HC and the other two against J Ghulam Safdar & J Iftikhar M Chaudhry were referred to on political grounds.


It has been a topic of high debate that if a senior civil servant can be tried for ‘living beyond means’ then why a judge or General cannot be taken through the same mill on same like charges.


In the past, the practical way of appointment of judges remained varied and above the provisions given in the framework of Judge’s Decision of 1996 or a change adopted in SC’s decision of 2002. Most of the times the heads of political parties especially the Pakistan Peoples Party (PPP) and both Pakistan Muslim Leagues, [PML(N) & PML(Q)], whenever they came in power, tried to bring their own party supporters belonging to the lawyer community as judges of higher courts. [When these key parties were out of government, the military rulers also did the same.] They used to bribe, pay back or compensate their associated party workers and on the other side, mostly jeopardized and compromised with the demands of justice by showing their sympathies with the political parties they belong secretly and sometimes quite openly.


In Pakistan, whenever the political governments changed hands, the Governors of the provinces made out a list of perspective judges and handed over to their respective chief justices for inclusion in their lists. The chief justices used to express a little say in acceptance of those names. What happened; we all got a corps of political judges.


Whenever a military dictator took over, he never bothered to get any list from their governors even. The ISI and MI made lists for them and the only quality considered was their ‘loyalty to the army’ and the presence of germs of ‘PCOship behaviour’ in the candidates. In our country, it was because after taking oath, those judges had to complete uphill tasks of issuing green slips to the CMLAs cum Presidents for acceptance, their nominated Prime Ministers and their teams in corruption cases placed before them. Our history is jam-packed of tens of such examples if we start counting.


For instance; the name of Maulvi Mushtaq Hussain cannot be scrapped from the judicial history of Pakistan for being accused of ‘judicial murder’ of PPP’s founder Z A Bhutto. The grudge was that during Z A Bhutto’s rule, he was not considered for the slot of Chief Justice Lahore High Court due to certain reasons. When Gen Ziaul Haq took over in July 1977 he picked him as his main representative in Judiciary by awarding him the top slot in the name of compensation. Mr Maulvi repatriated the blessings of Gen Ziaul Haq by taking his ‘rival’ through a shabby judicial process putting all judicial norms at stake.


The next stage of Bhutto’s case was in the Supreme Court. J Yaqub Ali was the Chief Justice of Pakistan since 1st November 1975, He was a great believer in democracy and the then military dictator Gen Ziaul Haq knew it well. Thus the CJP Yaqoob Ali was forced to retire by the General on 22nd July 1977. Justice Yaqub Ali had held a previous martial law by a usurping General ultra-vires to the Constitution of Pakistan declaring that ‘martial law undermines concept of the rule of law which is the basis for a Constitution’.


The usurping Gen Ziaul Haq had realised that his illegal actions would be overturned in the superior court of law headed by a Judge who believed in democracy so he proposed certain amendments to force the Chief Justice of the Supreme Court to retire. In fact, Gen Ziaul Haq did not just stop there but went further on to remove his like minded judges, too.


Gen Ziaul Haq then brought Justice Anwarul Haq as the CJP who later headed a bench to hear the appeal of Z A Bhutto. One Justice Nasim Hassan Shah was a member of that bench of seven judges who had upheld the decision of Bhutto’s death sentence. When Justice Shah became Chief justice, his favourable tilt towards Nawaz Sharif’s Muslim League and his antipathy towards Pakistan Peoples Party (PPP) were well known. He had exchanged harsh words with his CJ Afzal Zullah when the later had once received Benazir Bhutto at a function being an opposition leader. J Nasim Hassan Shah had headed the bench which restored Nawaz Sharif’s government in May 1993.


Why Justice Nasim Hassan Shah was against the PPP could be traced back; he had been humiliated during Benazir Bhutto’s first tenure when she had refused to sit on the same table with him. The reason was that Nasim H Shah was one of the justices who had upheld the death sentence of Benazir’s father Zulfiqar Ali Bhutto in 1979. Benazir Bhutto could be condoned for being in her very young age dominated by her father’s tragic treatment at the hands of judiciary whereas J Nasim Hassan was a mature member of the superior court; should have been above bias and prejudices.


Thus the military guided judicial process which was given start by Maulvi Mushtaq, CJ of the Lahore High Court and upheld by another stooge CJP Anwarul Haq ended at gallows of Rawalpindi Central Jail. However, the history remembers all the three characters with different connotations. The echo will continue to sound all the hails & praises for Z A Bhutto and curses for the two judges for all times to come.


Going deep into the decline of judicial values, one can say that first visible dent was seen on 5th July 1977 when Gen Ziaul Haq had toppled Mr Bhutto’s government. Justice Fakhruddin Ebrahim told during an interview, published in daily ‘Jang’ of 16th May 1999, that:


‘Immediately after promulgation of Martial Law, Gen Ziaul Haq got worried about the possible reaction of judiciary. At 3 AM Gen Ziaul Haq got the then Federal Law Secretary, Abdul Haye Qureshi, on phone line and asked him that how the judiciary would react as he was going to abrogate the Constitution. Gen Zia also told Mr Qureshi that he wanted to elevate all the four chief justices as governors of the respective provinces. At about 5.30 AM, Mr Qureshi had confirmed back to Gen Ziaul Haq that all the four CJs had agreed to go for Acting Governors – well done, the General had replied.’


Thus when the custodians of law had become Acting Governors, who was there to take care of the Constitution of 1973 under which a General could be challenged.


In early 1993, relations between Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif and president Ghulam Ishaq Khan deteriorated quite rapidly and Khan was planning to ouster Sharif. Some statements attributed to the then CJP Afzal Zullah indicated that judiciary may act to counter president’s move. President waited till 18th April 1993; the day of retirement of the chief justice. In a very curious development, chief justice on the very day of his retirement was on a plane heading out of the country. Justice Nasim Hassan Shah was sworn in as Acting CJP; the President took decision at the same moment sending Nawaz Sharif home & ordering the National Assembly to pack up and to vacate the chambers.


The judicial crisis of 1997 severely damaged country’s image and judiciary’s reputation. A reckless civilian prime minister and his cronies clashed head on with an equally reckless chief justice of the Supreme Court. The trouble between judges of the Supreme Court had been brewing over a long time. The enmity had taken start in 1993, when Justice Sajjad Ali Shah had given the lone dissenting opinion in the judgment in which the Supreme Court had restored Sharif’s government by a majority decision. Two judges; Muhammad Rafiq Tarar and Saeeduzzaman Siddiqui had asked the Chief Justice Nasim Hassan Shah to take disciplinary action against J Sajjad Ali Shah for the language he used in his dissenting note.


Referring to ‘Judicial Jitters in Pakistan’ by Hamid Hussain published in the Defence Journal of June 2007 issue; the row between the Chief Justice Sajjad Ali Shah and Justice Saeeduzaman Siddiqui [for calling the Supreme Court proceedings in all its registries to halt on the point that the CJP had gone abroad and there was no Acting CJ in the country] was quite an odd instance and uncalled for. The event has been mentioned in detail earlier which nurtured a rift between the two judges for a long time because on his return from foreign tour the CJP Sajjad Ali Shah had conveyed his disapproval in writing. The same Justice Saeeduzzaman Siddiqui became the champion of democracy when in 2000 he was not called to take oath as Chief Justice of Pakistan or he had declined to take oath under Gen Musharraf’s PCO; the result was the same – going home.


It had been a tradition in the Supreme Court that whenever there was some internal problem or grave disagreement, the court used to call a full court meeting to find out solution. In those days the CJP Sajjad Ali Shah had developed a habit of issuing press statements, holding media meetings and seeing the senior executives wherever he went. When in Lahore, the CJP Sajjad Ali Shah used to have dinner with the Chief Minister Shahbaz Sharif and paying visit to Raiwind Palace to see (late) Mian Sharif but those dinners could not save him from disaster of November 1997 when the Supreme Court was attacked and he was sent home in an un-ceremonial way.


Similarly the CJP Sajjad Ali Shah used to keep constant liaison with Mr Jatoi and Gaus Ali Shah etc when on Sindh or Karachi’s tour, whereas all the other judges were upset. The judges wanted to call a meeting for discussion on such issues. The CJP Sajjad Ali Shah never called or encouraged any such meeting because of expected humiliation on account of lack of support.


When in 1997, the Chief Justice Sajjad Ali Shah had gone to Saudi Arabia for Umra and J Saeeduzzaman was in London, Justice Ajmal Mian being the senior most in country had called that full court meeting. The CJP Shah came to know of it in Saudia, he immediately rushed back without performing Umra.


During the same days, when the CJP had developed some differences with the Chief Justice Lahore HC Sh Riaz Ahmed, he simply promoted him to join the Supreme Court where he had to work as a junior judge.


It is on record also that CJP Sajjad Ali Shah had moved for change in his date of birth when he was just near retirement. Later it transpired that the ‘date of birth issue’ was only orchestrated to keep the official residence of the CJP in Rawalpindi under use which otherwise should have been vacated within three months. What a way to earn respect from the junior colleague judges.


Sometimes people occupying high offices act in a childish manner embarrassing not only the high office but also the country. In August 1997, the CJP Sajjad Ali Shah recommended elevation of five judges to the Supreme Court without consulting with the executive. Nawaz Sharif’s government in return issued an order duly signed by the President of Pakistan reducing the strength of the Supreme Court from seventeen to twelve. Few days later the Chief Justice, while presiding a three member’s bench, had suspended the notification and the government withdrew the same.


Once the Supreme Court’s judges, rather than brainstorming about legal issues, were found clashing with each other about the colour of the Supreme Court flag. One Chief Justice had arranged for the inauguration of the incomplete building of the new Supreme Court because he wanted to be in the limelight before his retirement.


J BHAGWANDAS CALLED IN DOCK:


Sometimes the judges themselves have provided good material to the general populace for stunning jokes. Even if their appointments were made on merits but they were not ready to tolerate each other. One episode from the judicial history of Pakistan was the appointment of Rana Bhagwandas, a judge of the Sindh High Court, which has another kind of story behind it. A petition was filed before a Division Bench of the Sindh High Court challenging an order of the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal in Karachi. The Division Bench which heard the case was presided over by Justice Rana Bhagwandas and Justice Sabihuddin Ahmed, and the appeal was dismissed.


The petitioner then filed a constitutional petition (No: 1069/1999) against the Government of Pakistan to declare the bench unconstitutional as Justice Bhagwandas was Hindu and only Muslims could be appointed to the superior judiciary. On 1st September 1999, the Chief Justice of the Sindh High Court ordered a full bench to hear that petition challenging the appointment of a non-Muslim judge. The bench, comprising Justice Dr Ghous Mohammad, Justice Abdul Hameed Dogar and Justice Roshan Essani, on the first instance, directed the petitioner to amend the title of the petition by incorporating the name of Justice Rana Bhagwandas as another respondent. It was because the petitioner, Shafi Mohammadi, himself a former judge of the Sindh High Court and Federal Shariat Court, had made the state, through secretary of Ministry of Law and Parliamentary Affairs, the sole respondent.


The petitioner, interalia, had also prayed to the court to restrain Rana Bhagwandas from working as a judge of the high court till disposal of the case. He had also prayed to the court to hold back the then high court judge, Justice Ms Majida Rizvi, from sitting over the cases involving Hudood and Qisas matters because she was a lady.


United Nation’s representative on human rights in Pakistan Asma Jehangir regretted the petition against appointment of Justice Bhagwandas on account of his faith. In a Press statement, she said religion and patriotism had time and again been used to advance mischief in the country. She said Sindh High Court’s decision to issue a notice to the sitting judge had eroded the image of Pakistani judiciary. The decision to constitute a full Bench to determine the constitutionality of the judge’s appointment on the basis of his belief or religion was unwise as it had implications for the independence of judiciary and the rights of minorities. She was hailed for pointing out the mischief caused to Pakistan in the name of faith.


Challenging Justice Bhagwandas’s appointment was another step towards intimidating individuals and institutions into subjugation. Religious minorities and women’s rights groups had much to lose from such acts. The case was heard on 22nd September then on 19th October 1999 but the irony of fate was that the judgment was kept reserved till the judge Bhagwandas, who was in fact next in line to be the chief justice of that High Court, was transferred to the Supreme Court.


SC JUDGE’S SENIORITY ISSUE:


Second episode came in the first week of February 2002, when the Pakistan media published reports regarding a dispute over seniority, which had arisen among the Supreme Court judges. Justice Iftikhar M Chaudhry had questioned the seniority of Justice Nazim Hussain Siddiqui in writing. Justice Chaudhry, who expected to become Chief Justice of Pakistan from July 2005 for about eight years, had made a representation to the CJP asking him to correct the seniority list.


According to his viewpoint, Justice Chaudhry would have assumed the charge two years earlier, from July 2003, and his tenure would end on 12th December 2013. The compulsory retirement of Justice Rashid Aziz Khan had given rise to that seniority dispute. Had Justice Aziz remained on the bench, Justice Nazim Siddiqui had no chance to become the chief justice. Justice Siddiqui was part of the seven-member bench which declared Justice Rashid Aziz Khan and Justice Malik Qayyum biased against former Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto in famous Cotecna case in which Saif ur Rehman Ehtesab used to convey them explicit directions.


Un-ceremonial removal of Justice Rashid Aziz had paved the way for Justice Siddiqui to become aspiring expectant for the post of chief justice. He had contended that he and Justice Chaudhry were elevated as SC judges on 4th February 2000. Their date of appointment as chief justices of Sindh and Balochistan high courts respectively was the same, 22nd April 1999. Justice Chaudhry was of the view that under Section 8(4) of the Civil Servants Act 1974, seniority had to be reckoned from the date of elevation as judges in the respective high courts.


Justice Chaudhry contended that Justice Siddiqui was junior to him, as he {J Iftikhar Chaudhry} was elevated as Balochistan High Court judge on 6th November 1990, whereas Justice Siddiqui was elevated as Sindh High Court judge on 22nd March 1992. After two years as ad hoc judge, Justice Siddiqui was not confirmed. However, after the lapse of two months, Justice Siddiqui was reappointed as SHC judge on 5th June 1994. Justice Chaudhry contended that Justice Siddiqui was elevated as judge of SHC on 5th June 1994, and was junior to him. Justice Chaudhry had also cited certain case laws on the subject to support his contention that seniority in such situations would be determined on the basis of original date of induction in service.


As a result, Justice Iftikhar Chaudhry got his seniority as he deserved.


Another row for CJP’s slot: Justice Falak Sher was appointed a judge of Lahore High Court on 11th March 1987 and elevated to Supreme Court on 6th July 2002. After retirement of Chief Justice Nazim Hussain Siddiqui, by virtue of being the longest serving justice on the Supreme Court bench at the time, Justice Iftikhar M Chaudhry was appointed as next Chief Justice. Justice Iftikhar was appointed a justice of Balochistan High Court in 1999 and was elevated to Supreme Court on 4th February 2000.


Justice Falak Sher maintained that he was senior to Justice Chaudhry based on their respective elevation to High Courts and should be appointed as Chief Justice of Pakistan. On appointment of Justice Chaudhry as Chief Justice, he petitioned the President of Pakistan on that account for which no decision was made.


During the hearing of the Presidential reference against Justice Iftikhar M Chaudhry in March 2007, Justice Falak Sher declined to sit on the full bench hearing the case. He stated that ‘on account of seniority and being the senior-most judge in the country, it would be improper for me to hear a case in which the chief justice is a party, who like other judges of the Supreme Court is junior to me from four to nine years’.


Another fact from the recent history of Pakistan’s judiciary: A constitutional petition was moved by Sindh High Court Bar Association (SHCBA) against the appointment of judges on permanent basis and extension of their tenures by terming that the said order was issued without consulting the Chief Justice of Sindh HC. The notification was issued for converting appointment of Justice Bin Yameen to permanent basis on his post as Justice of Sindh High Court, and the extension of the tenures of Justice Arshad Noor Khan and Justice Peer Ali Shah for further six months.


While expressing his satisfaction over such order, President of Sindh High Court Bar Association Rasheed A Rizvi, told the media representatives that after the success of lawyer’s movement, they would not fight on roads for the independence of judiciary, however, if the state challenges the Sindh HC order in Supreme Court, they will go against them. The decision was given on the basis that in respect of three alleged justices there was no disagreement of opinion.


Old stories lost with the time. After reinstatement of CJ Iftikhar Chaudhry and his colleague judges on 16th March 2009, the situation changed suddenly. The first instance came up in the first week of May 2009, when a petition against Justice Arshad Noor Khan of the Sindh High Court was dismissed by a full bench comprising of Justice Khilji Arif Hussain, Justice Maqbool Baqar, Justice Gulzar Ahmed and Justice Fasial Arab.


But these are the tales from most of the third world countries. Take an example from India where on 28th November 2009, the Supreme Court of India, stayed the Central Information Commission’s (CIC) direction asking it to make public an information pertaining to appointment of three junior judges to the apex court by superseding senior judges.


Not only this, in a separate petition the Indian Supreme Court also issued a stay in another CIC’s order which had directed disclosure of a talk between the Chief Justice of India and Justice R Raghupathy of Madras High Court (MHC) on an alleged interference by a union minister in a subjudice matter. Interestingly, deviating from the normal practice which was adopted by the SC in an earlier case on the assets declaration issue, the apex court this time reflected differently sidelining the Delhi High Court where appeals against the CIC’s order were filed.


The background was that on 25th November 2009 the CIC had said that appointment of judges is a ‘public activity’ which cannot be withheld from disclosure and asked the apex court registry to make public the records relating to appointment of three apex court judges who had superseded their seniors. CIC had passed these orders on Subhash Chandra Agrawal’s petition seeking complete correspondence between authorities concerned relating to appointment of Justices H L Dattu, A K Ganguly and R M Lodha superseding seniority of Judges A P Shah, A K Patnaik and V K Gupta. The petition had said that the whole process was allegedly objected to by the Prime Minister’s Office.


[It is on record that one Justice Raghupathy of MHC, a few weeks back, had alleged in an open court that a Union Minister’s lawyer spoke to him on telephone seeking favours in a case being probed by CBI. The CIC in a separate order had directed the apex court to reveal the name of that Union Minister and secondly, the complete correspondence with Chief Justice of India concerning that issue.] (Ref: Indian Express dated 4th December 2009)


Coming back to Pakistan; the sitting CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry when rejoined the Supreme Court in March 2009, started with good intentions with all his colleague chief justices in provinces. Soon he felt that his name sake CJ LHC Ch Iftikhar Hussain was not giving him ‘due respect’ whereas the CJ LHC held opinion that the CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry had allegedly ‘interfered’ in LHC’s affairs.


[The CJ LHC Ch Iftikhar Hussain had somewhere negatively mentioned about the protocol issue which was interalia included in the judicial reference made to the Supreme Judicial Council by Gen Musharraf against the CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry in March 2007]


CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry was also blamed for rejecting some names of would be judges recommended by the CJ LHC. The cold war between the two CJs went so high that once the CJP had to summon two judges of the LHC named Justice Akhtar Shabbir and Justice Sh Rasheed and asked them to show ‘judge like’ behaviour. That was the breaking point after which the two CJs did not like to communicate each other directly.


The same kind of cold relationship was also seen between CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry and the CJ Baluchistan High Court (BHC) Justice Amanullah Yaseenzai because the later had manoeuvred to call the examination papers of CJP’s son Arsalan Iftikhar against an alleged complaint.


Justice Jehanzeb Rahim of Peshawar High Court was also angry with the CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry because the later had once given a verdict against Justice Jehanzeb Rahim in a case in which he had row with his own mother in connection with their ancestral property.


All these judges were approached by Gen Musharraf’s secret team to bring and manage their complaints against the CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry; that was why Justice Jehanzeb Rahim’s name was also mentioned in Gen Musharraf’s reference of 9th March 2007 against the CJP.


During hearing of the same judicial reference of March 2007, affidavits submitted by Gen Hamid and Gen Nadeem Ejaz of MI had categorically mentioned that ‘the CJP wanted certain judges of LHC and Sindh HC to be sent home’; but not considered worth by the SJC being without any mention of evidence.


It was also mentioned in affidavits that the CJP Iftikhar M Chaudhry used to get secret reports about their colleague judges through the civil and military intelligence agencies; also given therein that the CJP was fond of protocol of high stature. He always expected to be received by the SP / SSP of each district at the boundary of his jurisdiction if and when the CJP travelled. Practically it was not possible nor it is anywhere written in the ‘blue book of protocol’ under which the SP / SSP sets his protocol plans.


There were many more flimsy charges like above in the reference sent by Gen Musharraf to the SJC; nothing was believed or taken seriously but the whole game was being supervised to create rift amongst the judges of the superior judiciary, to which extent they went successful.




Scenario 34


PAN-ISLAMISM IN PAK ARMY:


BRIG ALI’S STORY:


In Pakistan, Brig Ali Khan’s arrest on 6th May 2011 under specific approval of COAS Gen Ashfaq Kayani speaks the deep roots of ‘fundamentalism’ still having confused and turbulent trends in the Pakistan Army. The officer was posted in the GHQ Rawalpindi since two years. He was arrested on the allegations of keeping contacts with Hizbut Tehreer (HT) which is allegedly known for having discrete links with MI5, an official intelligence unit of the United Kingdom. When HT was contacted by the media for comments they said that:


“Our policy is not to confirm or deny such news and expect material support from sincere officers to establish Khalafah”.


Asif Salahuddin, spokesman for HT told the media that:


‘We normally don’t react on such stories and this is the only reaction which can clear our position in regards to Brigadier Ali Khan. Further reaction would be released with the developments. We are organizing a meeting in London on 26th June 2011 and invite all sincere and dedicated Muslims to join us’.


Brig Ali’s wife told the media that: “Allegations are fabricated, every General knows my husband. He was arrested to gratify America and was to retire next month”.


The Pakistan Army’s spokesman Maj Gen Athar Abbas had also told that following the arrest of Brig Ali Khan, four army majors were questioned in the said context. Gen Athar, the Chief of the ISPR, had categorically narrated before the media that Brig Ali Khan had never been associated with Al Qaeda or Taliban or any other Mujahideen type group. However, he remained under surveillance of the ISI and Military Intelligence (MI) for about six months and in their joint operation he was finally picked up from outside his residence. The intelligence agencies of army reportedly launched a check on him after some suspicious people were found frequently visiting his home. The call records of his mobile phone had confirmed the said suspicions and the officer was found linked to a contingent of militants having direct ties with the American CIA, most probably through HT allegedly a front organization of MI5 of England.


HT is active in many Muslim countries and in Britain. The organization was extremely critical of former military ruler Gen Musharraf and his pro-American policies so he had banned it in Pakistan in 2003. Gen Musharraf might have banned it to please Israel with whom he was then trying to ‘normalize’ diplomatic relations.


HT is strongly anti-Zionist and calls Israel an ‘illegal entity’. Some observers believe that HT is the victim of false allegations of connections to terrorism whereas it explicitly commits itself to non-violence. Perhaps, that is why despite ban in Pakistan, it hardly faces any difficulty in disseminating its message to the public through posters, seminars, literature and even rallies. Allegedly a letter, designed by the HT in 2010 had urged the members of the Pakistan’s armed forces to revolt against their top civilian and military leadership for their alliance with the United States. The said four officers were only questioned in that context, not detained.


The arrest of these high ranking officers raised fears about growth of a group which aspired to make Pakistan a base for the establishment of an Islamic Caliphate. The army had taken links of serving officers with HT as an illegal activity and against Army discipline. On the other hand Brig Ali dismissed reports that his companion soldiers were in contact with militants or had links with banned organisations like HT.


However, the ISPR contained that in big institutions like army, presence of such individuals could not be immediately dismissed. Efforts were at hand to trace other members of HT in Pakistan Army who had contacts with Brig Ali; showing zero tolerance policy of such activities within the military organization of Pakistan.


Contrarily a general image of Brig Ali khan had been prevailing that:


‘… He might have contacts with the banned group but he was not involved in any type of conspiracy. His father was a junior officer in army. His sons and son in law and younger brothers are also serving there. Every Generals know Brig Ali Khan.


Even Gen Kayani knows him; they (the whole family) can never think of betraying the army or this country. He was an intellectual, an honest, patriotic and ideological person. It’s a fashion here that whosoever offers prayers and practices religion is dubbed as Taliban or militant. Just to please America and to fool the Pakistani people, such allegations have been levelled against him.’


However, one could find a sure fact available on his record that he had been piling up enormous pressure on the top brass to stop extending any moral or intelligence help to the US forces on or around Pak-Afghan borders. Brig Ali had joined army in 1979, went up like a normal career officer but stumbled down when he once openly criticized Gen Musharraf during his visit to the Quetta Staff College.


During his staff course at Quetta Military Staff College, Brig Ali Khan had asked Gen Musharraf, in an open question-answer session, about the contents of key-agreement between the US and Pakistan. Brig Ali had also asked to define the ‘limits’ of co-operation with US on ‘the war on terror’. His questions were never answered but Gen Musharraf was not happy over this unexpected encounter.


After the course, when the next army promotion board was held in GHQ with Gen Musharraf in chair as the Army Chief, Brig Ali was superseded on the same account. Subsequent promotion boards had also rejected him while his colleagues and subordinates continued to rise up the promotion ladder and went senior to him. He should have gone for early retirement but he opted to continue with the same rank and pay. For some he was serving for a ‘better’ cause. He had developed a habit of writing letters to high-rank Generals who were his colleagues or juniors, with suggestions on how to expel America from his native soils.
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